In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Charles B. Simmons Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Docket Case No. 2018-CP-23-00883  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001518

---

**RECEIVED**  
JUN 10 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

Laurel Grove, LLC, . . . . . Respondent,

vs.

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1. IS IT AN ABUSE OF JUDICIAL DISCRETION TO ORDER THE 3 ACRES OF LAND TO BE SOLD AS A WHOLE?**
- 2. WHETHER THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY VIOLATING SECITION 15-61-400 (D) AFTER ORDERING THE 3 ACRES OF LAND TO BE SOLD?**
- 3. WHETHER JUDGE SIMMONS ABUSED HIS JUDICAL DISCRETIONARY POWER BY REMAINING ON THIS CASE AFTER HAVING BEEN ASKED TO RECUSE HIMSELF?**
- 4. IS IT AN ABUSE OF JUDICIAL DISCRETION TO CONTINUE COURT AFTER HOWARD DIXON, APPRAISER HIRED BY SOME OF THE DEFENDANTS, WAS UNABLE TO BE AT THE HEARING ON JUNE 29, 2019 BECAUSE OF AN ENGAGEMENT OUTSIDE OF THIS COUNTRY?**
- 5. WHETHER JUDGE SIMMONS HAD A DUTY TO STOP ATTORNEY AIMEE LEARY FROM INTERFERING WITH THE COURT ORDERED APPAISAL OF THE 3 ACRES OF LAND?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court on the appeal of Juanita Smith, Evelyn Byrd, Shirley Miller, and Sharon Brown (hereinafter "Appellants") from the decision of the Honorable Charles B. Simmons Jr. dated August 9, 15, 2018 Laurel Grove LLC, respondent, filed a summons and complaint against the appellants and several other people. (R. pp. 20-32). Thereafter, on April 6, 2018, the appellants filed an answer to the respondent's summons and complaint (R. pp. 33-34). On February 19, 2019, Greenville County Tax Collector filed an answer to the respondent's summons and complaint.

On September 6, 2019 , Juanita Smith, Evelyn Byrd, Shirley Miller, and Sharon Brown filed an appeal with this court.

Laurel Grove requested and was granted a judicial sale of a property, located at Anderson Ridge Road in Greer S.C., owned by the appellants and others. (R. p. 31, line 14; R.p. 17, line 21-p. 18 , line 12). Many of the defendants were opposed to the judicial sale of the 3 acres of land located at Anderson Ridge Road.

Additionally, many of the defendants wanted the property to be partitioned in kind. (R.p. 89, lines 4-11). Appellants appraisal for the 3 acres of land indicates a value of \$165,000. However, Judge Simmons accepts the court appointed appraiser's value of \$100,000. Throughout the court appointed appraiser inquiry of the value of the three acres of land, Attorney Aimee Leary interfered with the court appointed appraiser process and upon information and belief influenced the appraisers' value of the land. (R.p. 120; R.p. 122). Judge Simmons, upon information and belief, had a duty to stop the respondent's attorney, Aimee Leary, from interfering with the court appointed appraisal of the 3 acres of land (R. p. 126, lines 7-12).

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

South Carolina Code of Laws Chapter 61 establish the standards against which the lower court's order must be reviewed. The court is being asked to look at whether the trial court exceeded bounds of reason thereby abusing its discretionary power. When upon belief, it can be fairly said that no judge would reasonably make the same order/decision under the same circumstances. *Payne v. Holiday Towers, Inc.*, 283 S.C. 210, 215, 321 S.E.2d 179, 182 (Ct. App 1984). *Roberson v. Roberson* 359 S.C. 384, 389, 597 S.E.2d 840, 842 (Ct. App. 2004);

## ARGUMENT

### **I. IS IT AN ABUSE OF JUDICIAL DISCRETION TO ORDER THE 3 ACRES OF LAND TO BE SOLD AS A WHOLE?**

The appellants contend that it was an abuse of judicial discretion to order the 3 acres of land to be sold as a whole. Appellants' appraiser, Dixon Howard (Howard), was unable to be in court on July 29, 2019 to testify to the whether the land should be partition in kind instead of being sold as a whole. The court favors partition in kind when it can be fairly so made without injury to any other parties in interest. *Smith v. Pearson*, 210 S.C. 524, 43 S.E. 2d 479 (1947).

Mr. Howard sent the following e-mail to the court : "Hello Karen, I received the subpoena to be in court on July 29 to testify for the appraisal report that my company completed on Anderson Ridge Road. Unfortunately, I have a prior engagement to be out of the country in El Salvador from July 26 until August 3. Would it be possible to either reschedule this court date, or have my appraiser partner Dave testify for the land appraiser?"

The court responded to Mr. Howard in the following way: "Good morning, Please see e-mail below from Mr. Howard. Per Judge Simmons, if no one objects to Mr. Howard's partner "testify" on his behalf the hearing set for July 29th at 10:00 will move forward." Mr. Howard sent Dave Batson to testify in response to the court response.

Judge Simmons abused his discretionary power by not rescheduling the hearing to another date when Mr. Howard would be available to attend. Instead of postponing the hearing on July 29, 2019, Judge Simmons states the following: "Mr. Batson, who is not yet a licensed appraiser, testified that his opinion of the value of the parcel was \$165,000. No report of Mr. Batson was introduced. Mr. Batson also shared concerns about the feasibility of the parcel be divided into shares as small as 0.025. " (R.p. 15, lines 20-22).

Appellants feels that a manifest injustice has occurred. Appellants were denied the opportunity to have our licensed appraiser, Dixon Howard, at the hearing on July 29, 2019. Therefore, Judge Simmons' August 9, 2019 order should be vacated in its entirety.

**2. WHETHER THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY VIOLATING SECTION 15-61-400 (D) AFTER ORDERING THE 3 ACRES OF LAND TO BE SOLD?**

Judge Simmons states on page 6 of his August 9, 2019 order the following: "If the parcel is not under contract to the highest and best offer as determined by the realtor, and in accordance with 15-61-400, within 90 days of the listing, then the parcel shall be sold with no minimum price at the next available monthly Greenville County Courthouse auction and in accordance with the usual and customary terms and condition of said sale.

Judge Simmons ruled around January 2019 that the 3 acres of land would be auctioned off on May 6, 2019. After being told we would appeal this decision to auction the property off on May 6, 2019, Judge Simmons sent out a letter dated March 25, 2019 indicating that some issues need to be addressed and resolved. (R.p. 36). After appellant responded to Judge Simmons' March 25, 2019 letter, I guess he decided not to go ahead with auctioning the property off on May 6, 2019. (R.pp. 38 - 43).

It appears that Judge Simmons was already set on seeing how he could favor the Respondent by putting the land up for auction so the respondent could pay very little for the 3 acres of land.

Judge Simmons ignores the fact that he cannot order the land sold at a public auction if it is not under contract within 90 days of the listing without holding a hearing and considering other alternatives. Section 15-61-400 states, " If the broker appointed under subsection (B) does not obtain an offer to purchase for at least the determination of value, the court, after a hearing, may: (1.) approve the highest outstanding offer, if any; (2.) redetermine the value of the property and order that the property continue to be offered for an additional time; or (3.) order that the property be sold by sealed bids or at an auction.

Judge Simmons appears to be setting the appellants up for a disaster if the property does not go under contract within 90 days. He was asked to recuse himself from this case. Laurel Grove is being literally handed the opportunity to get this property for a low price at an auction. Why would Laurel Grove pay the appellants a fair market value for the land when Judge Simmons has set it up where they can sit back and wait for auctioning of the property. The appellants loss complete confidence in Judge Simmons along time ago. Now he refuses to look at other alternatives and give the appellants their hearing if the 3 acres of land does not sell. The appellants are being robbed of entitlements given to us by our legislature.

The appellants feel that a manifest injustice has occurred and requests that this court vacate Judge Simmons' August 9, 2019 order in its entirety.

**3. WHETHER JUDGE SIMMONS ABUSED HIS JUDICIAL DISCRETIONARY POWER BY REMAINING ON THIS CASE AFTER HAVING BEEN ASKED TO RECUSE HIMSELF?**

Judge Simmons was asked to recuse himself from this case. (R.p. 45, lines 11-13). He abused his discretionary power by remaining on this case after having been asked to recuse himself. Many of the defendants felt that Judge Simmons was hostile and did not want to go before him. He even ordered that the property be auctioned off on May 6, 2019 during one of the hearings prior to the property ever being considered for a open-market sale as mandated by section 15-61-400. Judge Simmons appeared to not have the appellants' interests at heart at all. Appellants counted on having an impartial judge, however that was not the case here.

The appellants feel that we were denied a right to an impartial judge and that a manifest injustice has occurred. Therefore the appellants contend that Judge Simmon's August 9, 2019 order should be vacated in its entirety.

**4. IS IT AN ABUSE OF JUDICIAL DISCRETION TO CONTINUE COURT AFTER HOWARD DIXON, APPRAISER HIRED BY SOME OF THE DEFENDANTS, WAS UNABLE TO BE AT THE HEARING ON JUNE 29, 2019 BECAUSE OF AN ENGAGEMENT OUTSIDE OF THIS COUNTRY?**

Dixon Howard, appellants' appraiser, was served with a subpoena (by the appellants) to be in court on July 29, 2019. (R.p. 48-49). Judge Simmons excused Dixon Howard from appearing for court on July 29, 2019. Therefore court should have been postponed to another date. This would have eliminated Judge Simmons from being able to disqualify David Bates, the gentleman Dixon Howard sent in his place to testify for the appellants on July 29, 2019 during the hearing.

Judge Simmons abused his discretionary power by not rescheduling the hearing to another date when Mr. Howard would be available to attend. Instead of postponing the hearing on July 29, 2019, Judge Simmons holds the hearing and states the following in his court order: "Mr. Batson, who is not yet a licensed appraiser, testified that his opinion of the value of the parcel was \$165,000. No report of Mr. Batson was introduced. Mr. Batson also shared concerns about the feasibility of the parcel be divided into shares as small as 0.025. " (R.p. 15, lines 20-22).

Appellants were denied by Judge Simmons the opportunity to have our licensed appraiser, Dixon Howard, in court on July 29, 2019. Appellants' subpoena upon Dixon Howard should have been enforced, if court on July 29, 2019 was not going to be postponed to a later date.

A manifest injustice has been perpetrated upon the appellants. Therefore, appellants request that Judge Simmons' August 9, 2019 order be dismissed in its entirety.

**5. WHETHER JUDGE SIMMONS HAD A DUTY TO STOP ATTORNEY AIMEE LEARY FROM INTERFERING WITH THE COURT ORDERED APPRAISAL OF THE 3 ACRES OF LAND?**

Appellants were denied the opportunity to have a fair appraisal done by a court appointed appraiser. Judge Simmons should have ordered a new appraisal given that he failed to stop Aimee Leary from interfering with the court ordered appraisal. (R.p. 120; R.p. 122).

A manifest injustice has occurred and Judge Simmons August 9, 2019 order should be vacated in its entirety.