THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Master in Equity

Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master in Equity

**RECEIVED**

JUN 08 2020

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appellate Case No. 2019-001518

Laurel Grove, LLC.....Respondent,

v.

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

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **Appellants do not have standing to bring this Appeal.**

As evidenced by the Order – Ownership of Property, the August 2019 Order and Respondent's Statement of the Case, it is undisputed that ownership of the Estate's interest in the Property is unknown and undetermined. It is further undisputed that Appellants have no other ownership interest in the Property. This appeal was filed by potential heirs to an un-probated Estate, less than ten (10) years old, without any cotenant status in the Property. The remaining Defendants, which include cotenants of the Property, did not join in this appeal.

Appellants do not have any interest in the Property and further have no authority to act or appear on behalf of the Estate of Lula Mae Knox. A Personal Representative of the Estate has never been appointed. The statute governing partitions in South Carolina administers the rights

and interests of joint tenants and tenants in common only. The remedy of partition is provided in S.C. Code Ann § 15-61-10(A):

All joint tenants and tenants in common who hold, jointly or in common, for a term of life or years or of whom one has an estate for a term of life or years with the other that has an estate of inheritance or freehold in any lands, tenements or hereditaments shall be compellable to make severance and partition of all such lands, tenements and hereditaments. *Id.*

Appellants do not have standing to bring this appeal as a non-owner lacks a vested interest to compel or defend a partition action to real property in South Carolina. For the reasons stated herein, the Court should affirm the August 2019 Order and the case should be remanded to the Master in Equity.

**Appellants did not preserve one or more issues for Appellate Review.**

i. Absence of Dixon Howard.

Appellants' first objection to the August 2019 Order is that the Court should have rescheduled the July 2019 Hearing because Dixon Howard, the original appraiser hired by one or more Defendants, was unable to attend. However, Appellants never objected to Mr. Dixon's nonappearance at the hearing. Appellants' Initial Brief includes an excerpt of an email from the Court instructing the parties as follows: "if no one objects to Mr. Howard's partner testifying on his behalf ... then the hearing will move forward." Appellants never submitted a written objection. Mr. Dixon's partner appeared and testified on behalf of the Defendants and Mr. Dixon's absence was not raised until this appeal.

It is well settled that an issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review. *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000). Additionally, "[i]f the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review." *Elam v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24 n. 4, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 n. 4 (2004). Without an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court

simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error. *Staubes*, 339 S.C. at 412, 529 S.E.2d at 546.

Because an objection was never made, the Court never ruled on the issue.

ii. Interference by Respondent's Counsel.

At the July 2019 Hearing, Appellant Brown argued on multiple occasions that Respondent's counsel interfered with the court-appointed appraiser by responding to a question regarding the status of the Property (R. p. 84, lines 2-15). Appellants fail to acknowledge that they were copied on the email and had the same opportunity to submit a response to the same. Appellants further fail to acknowledge that Appellant Brown also issued a responsive email.

Appellants did not file any motion to exclude the court-appointed appraiser's testimony or his findings based on prejudice (or any other basis) and the Court never issued a ruling as to whether the email submitted by Respondent's counsel was or was not unduly prejudicial. Appellants never entered the subject emails into evidence at the July 2019 Hearing.

For the reasons stated herein, these issues are not subject to appellate review.

**The Master in Equity did not commit reversible error in ordering the real property, which is the subject of this partition action to be sold.**

The Appellants present one argument in support of their position that the Court "abused judicial discretion" in ordering the 3 acres of land to be sold as a whole. Their argument relates solely to the nonappearance of their appraiser, Dixon Howard. However, as Respondent articulated above, Appellants did not raise any objection regarding Mr. Howard's unavailability prior to or during the July 2019 Hearing. Once David Batson, the Appellants' alternate witness was confirmed as a replacement for Mr. Howard (prior to the hearing), Mr. Howard's unavailability was not discussed. Appellants presented no other argument in support of their position that the Court committed reversible error in ordering the Property to sale.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, both the court-appointed appraiser and Appellants' appraiser testified that the Property would be significantly devalued if the Property was distributed in-kind versus sold with the proceeds being distributed amongst the cotenants. Both appraisers confirmed that the large number of cotenants, compared to the size of the Property, make it impossible to divide without compromising the cotenants' financial interest in the Property as a whole.

In response to the Court's inquiry into what happens to the Property value if the Property is physically divided in-kind, the Appellants' appraiser, David Batson, testified as follows:

"It dilutes the value so that the property would not have the same value as to leave it as one piece of property. Obviously you can divide it, you know, subdivide it any way you want to as far as the percentages goes, but the value would change dramatically." (R. p. 98, lines 20-25).

The court-appointed appraiser, Tripp Glenn, also testified consistent with Appellants' appraiser.

The Court: "And did you also form an opinion as to what the property could be divided in kind – in other words split between the relative ownership interests or was it more appropriate or necessary to dispose of it in whole?"

Tripp Glenn: "We did form an opinion; yes, sir. We formed the opinion that it creates more value to dispose of the property in whole by not diluting the ownership interests." (R. p. 81, line 21 - p. 82, line 4).

In ruling that the Property cannot be practically divided among the cotenants, the Court held as follows:

[T]he Court has considered the factors set forth in 15-61-390 and is unable to find that the parcel can be practically divided among the cotenants or, for that fact, that this is even the desire of a significant percentage of the pro se Defendants. Further, and as noted above, ownership of the 37.5% interest of the Estate of Lula Mae Knox has never been determined or established. Rather, the evidence overwhelmingly establishes that the Court's requiring an in-kind division, to the extent such was even a possibility, would result in manifest injury to the cotenants as a group. Order of Charles B. Simmons, Jr. dated August 9, 2019 (R. p. 17).

While equitable considerations such as the length of ownership and sentimental attachment to the property may be considered, the pecuniary interests of all of the parties is the determining factor in deciding whether to require a judicial sale or allow a partition by allotment. *Zimmerman v. Marsh* (S.C. 2005) 365 S.C. 383, 618 S.E.2d 898.

For the reasons stated herein, no objection was made at the July 2019 Hearing and thus this issue is beyond the scope of appellate review.

**The Master in Equity's Order complied with S.C. Code § 15-61-400(D).**

Appellants further argue that the Master in Equity's August 2019 Order failed to comply with S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-400(D) of the Heirs' Property Act. Appellants argue that the Order must require an additional court hearing in the event that the Property is not sold by a realtor during the specific timeframe prescribed in §15-61-400. The requirements outlined in S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-400 are included herein.

(A) If the court orders a sale of heirs' property, the sale must be an open-market sale unless the court finds that a sale by sealed bids or an auction would be more economically advantageous and in the best interest of the cotenants as a group.

(B) If the court orders an open-market sale and the parties, not later than thirty days after the entry of the order, agree on a real estate broker licensed in this State to offer the property for sale, the court, upon consultation with the parties, shall appoint the broker and establish a reasonable commission. If the parties do not agree on a broker, the court shall appoint a disinterested real estate broker licensed in this State to offer the property for sale and shall establish a reasonable commission. The broker shall offer the property for sale in a commercially reasonable manner at a price no lower than the determination of value and on the terms and conditions established by the court.

(C) If a broker appointed under subsection (B) obtains within a reasonable time an offer to purchase the property for at least the determination of value:

(1) the broker shall comply with the reporting requirements in Section 15-61-410;

(2) the sale may be completed in accordance with state law other than this article;  
and

(3) the commission of the real estate broker must be paid from the proceeds of the sale.

(D) If the broker appointed under subsection (B) does not obtain within a reasonable time an offer to purchase the property for at least the determination of value, the court, after a hearing, may:

(1) approve the highest outstanding offer, if any;

(2) redetermine the value of the property and order that the property continue to be offered for an additional time; or

(3) order that the property be sold by sealed bids or at an auction.

(E) If the court orders a sale by sealed bids or an auction, the court shall set terms and conditions of the sale. If the court orders an auction, the auction must be conducted pursuant to procedures governing judicial sales and auctions.

(F) If a purchaser is entitled to a share of the proceeds of the sale, the purchaser is entitled to a credit against the price in an amount equal to the purchaser's share of the proceeds. *Id.*

The Court, instead of immediately ordering the Property for judicial sale, ordered the Property to be sold by a realtor in compliance with the statute. In doing so, the Master in Equity ruled as follows:

In light of the above, the Court will allow the parties 30 days, in accordance with 15-61-400, to agree upon a realtor to list the property for sale. In the event this does not occur, the Court shall appoint a licensed realtor, in accordance with 15-61-400, after the expiration of 40 days of this Order being filed and served upon all parties, to have an open market listing and sale of the entire tract with proceeds being divided, after payment of any and all costs, the appraisers fees, and a 6% realtors commission, in accordance with the Order of February 22, 2019. It is again the hope of the Court that by allowing this 40 day period, the parties will present to each other and/or to Plaintiff's counsel a written offer to either purchase the respective interest's in the parcel or to sell the interests in the parcel. In the event this does not happen, then the parcel will be listed with the realtor chosen by the Court. If the parcel is not under contract to the highest and best offer as determined by the realtor, and in accordance with 15-61-400, within 90 days of the listing, then the parcel shall be sold with no minimum price at the next available monthly Greenville

County Courthouse auction and in accordance with the usual and customary terms and conditions of said sale. Order of Charles B. Simmons, Jr. dated August 9, 2019 (R. pp. 17-18).

The Appellants' sole argument as to why the Court's August 2019 Order violates S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-400 is that the Court did not require the parties to reconvene at a hearing before the Court orders the Property for judicial sale (in the event that the Property is not first sold by a realtor). No other deviation was made from the language of the statute and no other basis in support of reversal was presented by the Appellants in their Brief.

Respondent avers that it is in the Court's discretion, which includes an evaluation of judicial economy, to determine whether or not to hold a subsequent hearing (if the Property is not sold by a licensed realtor). Moreover, Respondent avers that the Property was never listed for sale with a licensed realtor, so it is possible that the issue of a hearing would never be relevant in the case at bar. Respondent further points out that this section of the Heirs' Property Act limits its scope to cotenants of the Property, specifically excluding Appellants as a benefitted (or burdened) party. Respondent reaffirms that Appellants lack standing to raise this issue on appeal because the statute does not protect the interests of potential future heirs of property. Section §15-61-400(A) states: "[i]f the court orders a sale of heirs' property, the sale must be an open-market sale *unless the court finds that a sale by sealed bids or an auction would be more economically advantageous and in the best interest of the cotenants as a group*" (emphasis added).

However, should this Court rule that a subsequent hearing is in fact required under §15-61-400(D), then this Court should remand this case, affirming the Master in Equity's August 2019 Order, but with instruction to require a subsequent hearing in the event the Property is not first sold by a realtor.

**The Master in Equity did not commit reversible error in denying Appellant Brown's Motion for Recusal.**

The informal request for the Master in Equity to recuse himself was raised only by Sharon Brown, a pro se litigant. A formal motion was never filed. Prior to the substantive portion of the July 2019 Hearing, the Court offered Ms. Brown an opportunity to present her argument for requesting Judge Simmons to recuse himself. Ms. Brown presented the following to the Court:

Some of the recitations that you said – facts that you said happened in the course of the litigation in the past when we were here last time had not happened. And I didn't bring my evidence because I didn't know you were going to let me do a motion to recuse, even though I mentioned that. But I didn't actually file a motion actual motion. But basically we – well, I feel that it's just been a negative light that you've put on us.

And me personally, I'm just going to be how I really feel, I just feel like the way you are stating things is always in the negative. Like when Mr. Vieth first – we haven't been getting a lot of continuances. Only one – I don't know about Mr. Vieth, the attorney, because I don't know his schedule, but he had to cancel some of the hearings or whatever. But we haven't been called into Court, us personally, and we don't have anything to do with our attorney's schedule. And it's just been all negative, you know, just making us look all negative, to me, along with some of your recitation of facts were not accurate (R. p. 75, line 10 - p. 76, line 5).

In response, the Court asked Ms. Brown, "Okay. Is there anything else you would like to have on the record?" (R. p. 76, lines 6-7). In response, Sharon Brown replied "No." (R. p. 76, line 8). The Court subsequently denied the motion.

"A judge should disqualify himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including instances where he has a personal bias or prejudice against a party." *Koon v. Fares*, 379 S.C. 150, 156, 666 S.E.2d 230, 234 (2008). "It is not sufficient for a party seeking disqualification to simply allege bias; rather, the party must show some evidence of bias or prejudice. ***If there is no evidence of judicial bias or prejudice, a judge's failure to disqualify himself will not be reversed on appeal.***" *Id.* (citations omitted). "The fact a trial judge ultimately rules against a litigant is not proof of prejudice by the judge, even if it is later held the judge committed error in his rulings." *Mallett v. Mallett*, 323 S.C. 141, 147, 473 S.E.2d 804, 808 (Ct.App.1996). *Mortg. Elec. Sys., Inc. v. White*, 384 S.C. 606, 616, 682 S.E.2d 498, 503 (Ct. App. 2009) (emphasis added).

Appellant Brown failed to identify any basis of partiality or bias. Her only argument was that she felt that the case has been “negative” and that the Court’s “recitation of facts were not accurate.” Yet no specific set of facts or circumstances were identified.

In the *Mortgage Electronic Systems, Inc. v. White* case, the court found that “[the] Whites’ only evidence of bias is the special referee’s ruling denying their right to a jury trial and the judgment in favor of Mortgage Electronic. The fact the referee ruled against them is insufficient to show actual prejudice. Our review of the record reveals no indication of any actual bias on the part of the special referee. *Mortg. Elec. Sys., Inc. v. White*, 384 S.C. 606, 616, 682 S.E.2d 498, 503 (Ct. App. 2009). For this reason, the court affirmed the ruling of the special referee.

In the case at bar, Appellant Brown failed to introduce any evidence or basis to support her request that Judge Simmons’ recuse himself from the case. She admitted under oath that she did not bring any evidence with her to the hearing. For the reasons stated herein, Respondent avers that this Court has no basis to reverse the ruling of the Master in Equity.

**The Master in Equity did not commit reversible error in issuing a final Order despite the absence of the Appellants’ preferred appraiser at the July 29, 2019 Hearing.**

As articulated herein above, the Appellants never raised an objection or filed a motion prior to or at the July 2019 Hearing related to the absence of their appraiser, Dixon Howard. A replacement appraiser was present at the hearing and testified, without objection, by any party present at the hearing. Appellants failed to preserve this issue for appeal.

**Appellants’ claim of undue influence of the court-appointed appraiser was not preserved for Appellate Review.**

Appellants argue in their Brief that Respondent’s counsel interfered with the court-appointed appraiser’s appraisal due to Respondent’s counsel answering a question directed by email to all parties in the case. Appellants failed to submit any of the relevant emails into evidence

at the July 2019 Hearing and therefore the content of the same is not within the scope of appellate review.

Despite the Appellants' failure to submit the objected email into evidence, during the July 2019 Hearing, the Court inquired into whether the court-appointed appraiser was prejudiced by the email submitted by Respondent's counsel. The Court specifically asked the court-appointed appraiser, Tripp Glenn whether there was any undue influence and Tripp Glenn provided the following response:

The Court: Did you -- were you influenced in any way by any of the communications by Ms. Leary or her law firm providing information that you had requested?

Tripp Glenn: No, sir. We take any information -- any information we receive from the property owner and do our due diligence to confirm.

The Court: So did you feel like the information that was provided was reasonable and necessary and in accordance with your request?

Tripp Glenn: Yes, sir. That's a fairly typical practice.

The Court: And did her information -- first was any of her information proven inaccurate or incorrect?

Tripp Glenn: No, sir. I don't believe so.

The Court: And did it have any influence on your decision ---

Tripp Glenn: No, Sir.

The Court: -- as far as the evaluation, higher or lower?

Tripp Glenn: No, sir.

(R. p. 110, line 23 - p. 111, line 19).

While Appellant Brown also inquired into the court-appointed appraiser's influence by Respondent's counsel, at no point did she request that the Court strike the court-appointed appraiser's appointment or testimony due to undue influence. Moreover, the Court never ruled on whether or not the email was unduly prejudiced and Appellants never filed a motion or other request related to the same. As a result, this issue is also beyond the scope of appellate review.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated herein, Respondent respectfully prays that this Honorable Court affirm the Order of the Greenville County Master in Equity and remand the case for fulfillment of the August 9, 2019 Order.